Biological Conservation 151 (2012) 53-59



Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

Biological Conservation

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/biocon



Special Issue Article: Advancing Environmental Conservation: Essays In Honor Of Navjot Sodhi

Global food security, biodiversity conservation and the future of agricultural intensification

Teja Tscharntke^{a,*}, Yann Clough^a, Thomas C. Wanger^{b,c}, Louise Jackson^d, Iris Motzke^{a,c}, Ivette Perfecto^e, John Vandermeer^f, Anthony Whitbread^g

^a Agroecology, Department of Crop Sciences, Georg-August University, Grisebachstrasse 6, 37077 Göttingen, Germany

^b Centre for Conservation Biology, Department of Biology, Stanford University, 371 Serra Mall, CA 94305-5020, USA

^c Ecosystem Functions, Institute of Ecology, Leuphana University, Scharnhorststrasse 1, 21335 Lüneburg, Germany

^d Department of Land, Air and Water Resources, University of California, Davis, CA 95616, USA

^e School of Natural Resources and Environment, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA

^fDepartment of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA

^g Crop Production Systems in the Tropics, Georg-August University, Grisebachstrasse 6, 37077 Göttingen, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 30 August 2011 Received in revised form 29 January 2012 Accepted 31 January 2012 Available online 13 March 2012

Keywords:

Land sparing vs sharing Wildlife-friendly farming Land grabbing Biofuel directive Food wastage Yield-biodiversity trade offs

ABSTRACT

Under the current scenario of rapid human population increase, achieving efficient and productive agricultural land use while conserving biodiversity is a global challenge. There is an ongoing debate whether land for nature and for production should be segregated (land sparing) or integrated on the same land (land sharing, wildlife-friendly farming). While recent studies argue for agricultural intensification in a land sparing approach, we suggest here that it fails to account for real-world complexity. We argue that agriculture practiced under smallholder farmer-dominated landscapes and not large-scale farming, is currently the backbone of global food security in the developing world. Furthermore, contemporary food usage is inefficient with one third wasted and a further third used inefficiently to feed livestock and that conventional intensification causes often overlooked environmental costs. A major argument for wildlife friendly farming and agroecological intensification is that crucial ecosystem services are provided by "planned" and "associated" biodiversity, whereas the land sparing concept implies that biodiversity in agroecosystems is functionally negligible. However, loss of biological control can result in dramatic increases of pest densities, pollinator services affect a third of global human food supply, and inappropriate agricultural management can lead to environmental degradation. Hence, the true value of functional biodiversity on the farm is often inadequately acknowledged or understood, while conventional intensification tends to disrupt beneficial functions of biodiversity. In conclusion, linking agricultural intensification with biodiversity conservation and hunger reduction requires well-informed regional and targeted solutions, something which the land sparing vs sharing debate has failed to achieve so far.

© 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction: setting the scene – land sparing vs wildlife friendly farming?	54
2.	Global food security is not directly linked to global food production but rather is determined by many important drivers	54
	2.1. Food production from smallholder farms, not large-scale commercial farms, is the backbone of global food security	54
	2.2. Global food production is sufficient, but not available to the hungry	55
	2.3. Food usage is inefficient – one third is wasted and one third fed to livestock	55
	2.4. The EU '10% biofuel directive' causes increased food prices and contributes to rainforest destruction	55
	2.5. Land grabbing and speculation on food commodities jeopardizes food security	55
3.	Increasing yields need not translate into biodiversity loss or more land spared for nature	56
4.	Agroecological intensification sustains ecosystem services, while minimizing environmental costs and maintaining functional biodiversity	56
	4.1. Wildlife-friendly farming sustains cultural ecosystem services	56
	4.2. Conventional intensification causes often overlooked environmental costs	56
	4.3. The role of agrobiodiversity and associated ecosystem services	56

* Corresponding author. E-mail address: ttschar@gwdg.de (T. Tscharntke).

5.	Conclusions	57
	Acknowledgments	58
	References	58

1. Introduction: setting the scene – land sparing vs wildlife friendly farming?

Combining efficient agricultural land use with biodiversity conservation is a challenge. With the global population approaching 9 billion people in the next few decades, it is often asserted (e.g., from United Nations (UNs) and Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO)), that there is a need for 70–100% more food (Godfray et al., 2010). At the same time, the UN declared the current decade (2011–2020) the 'Decade of Biodiversity' with the EU (2011; the EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020) setting the targets of halting the loss of biodiversity and degradation of ecosystem services as major goals and setting 2020 as the target for restoring at least 15% of degraded ecosystems.

In some recent analyses (e.g., Phalan et al., 2011a,b; Green et al., 2005) the question is posed whether (or alternatively, at what scale) farming and conservation land management should be separated; segregating land for nature from land for production (land sparing), or integrated with production and conservation on the same land (land sharing or wildlife-friendly farming). As many wild species cannot survive in even the most wildlife-friendly farming systems, protection of wild land is essential (Barlow et al., 2007; Schulze et al., 2004; Maas et al., 2009; Phalan et al., 2011a,b; Kleijn et al., 2011). This fact led Phalan et al. (2011a) to the conclusion that yield increase from agricultural intensification could be used as a strategy to restrict human requirements for land. The general argument for land sparing is that increased food production per area farmland can help to reduce encroaching on natural habitats (see also Fischer et al., 2008, 2011; Green et al., 2005; Vandermeer and Perfecto, 2005; Gabriel et al., 2010; Hodgson et al., 2010; Phalan et al., 2011b).

In this essay we aim to highlight the shortcomings of a dichotomic view between land sharing and land sparing for real world application. The strategy put forward by Phalan et al. (2011a) may appear to maximize both biodiversity conservation and yield via efficient ecological-economic trade-offs at first glance. But upon closer examination, it fails to take into account the complexity of the real world and the opportunities for agricultural landscapes to provide multiple ecosystem services beyond food production and wild land biodiversity.

In the following, we outline major caveats inherent to the land sparing vs sharing debate. We discuss important drivers of global food security to indirectly address whether sparing land for nature needs higher intensity of farming to produce adequate food. In the third and fourth section, we directly question the land sparing vs sharing dichotomy and present evidence that agroecological approaches can support high yields. We also provide facts to challenge the strategy of Phalan et al. (2011a) to increase yields without explicitly considering the actual and potential cost of biodiversity losses, which can compromise ecosystem functionality and resilience in agriculture.

2. Global food security is not directly linked to global food production but rather is determined by many important drivers

2.1. Food production from smallholder farms, not large-scale commercial farms, is the backbone of global food security

Food security and food sovereignty are needed where the hungry live, which is often within a landscape matrix of ecosystems that are rich in biodiversity (Perfecto and Vandermeer, 2010). Hunger – somewhat counter intuitively – is not so much linked to the quantity of food that is globally produced but to poverty (Adams et al., 2004; Sachs et al., 2009). The majority of poor people live in rural areas with little or no access to productive agricultural lands. Hence, hunger is linked to farm size: 90% of farmers worldwide farm on <2 ha, producing food where it is needed – in much of the developing world. Eighty percentage of the hungry live in developing countries with 50% being smallholders (World Bank, 2007). Therefore, smallholders rather than large-scale commercial farmers are the backbone of global food security (Horlings and Marsden, 2011; Chappell and LaValle, 2011).

The "conventional" vs "agroecological" dichotomy is a simplified and heuristic device, as much of the world's agriculture lies somewhere between these categories (e.g. traditional smallholders with heavy pesticide use, e.g. Wanger et al., 2010, or large-scale organic farms). However, in general the potential for increasing food production with conventional intensification of agriculture is geared towards high-input agriculture, whereas the low-input agriculture of the poor relies more strongly on biodiversity and associated ecological processes (beneficial trophic interactions, soil food webs, stress-adapted crop genotypes; Lewis et al., 1997; Jackson et al., 2007). Moreover, it is well established that small and diversified farms rather than large monocultures show greater productivity per area; a phenomenon referred to as the 'paradox of the scale' or the 'inverse farm size-productivity relationship' (Cornia, 1985; Halweil, 2006; Barrett et al., 2009; de Schutter, 2011; Horlings and Marsden, 2011). For resilient and productive smallholder systems, food security policies must emphasize an increase in agroecological capacity. This includes eco-efficient (Keating et al., 2010), environmentally friendly and sustainable techniques to typically manage highly diversified cropland (Ratnadass et al., in press), avoiding pesticide use as much as possible, integrating soil fertility strategies (combining organic and inorganic fertilisers) and intensifying production in combination with preservation of functional biodiversity, thereby avoiding environmental risks smallholders face (see Fig. 1). The latter is often differently perceived by risk-averse farmers relying on long-



Fig. 1. The relationship between intensified agriculture (increasing yield) and biodiversity (including associated ecosystem services). In European agriculture, a slight increase in (high-input) intensification can cause a steep drop in biodiversity (Kleijn et al., 2009) or, alternatively, only a linear relationship (Geiger et al., 2010). In tropical agroforestry, biodiversity is often not related to yield, at least up to a certain level of intensification (Steffan-Dewenter et al., 2007; Clough et al., 2011). In all cases, the variability in the yield-biodiversity relationship is high suggesting potential for the identification of agroecological practices in favor of biodiversity conservation trade-offs or even synergies, while similar biodiversity does not mean similar community composition or functionality *per se*.

term resilience of their farms, in contrast to short-term yield-maximizing farmers (Baumgärtner and Quaas, 2010; Tscharntke et al., 2011).

Environmentally friendly land use contributes to biodiversity conservation, but poor rural based population tends to encroach forests to extract forest products, thereby endangering the sensitive forest fauna and flora (Schwarze et al., 2007; Michalski et al., 2010). On the other hand, participation of rural communities can be important: community-managed forests suffer from lower deforestation rates than protected forests, shown by a recent review across the tropics (Porter-Bolland et al., 2012).

2.2. Global food production is sufficient, but not available to the hungry

Current global food production is sufficient to feed the world. but the hungry cannot afford the food (>1 billion of people are hungry and >2 billion malnourished today; Chappell and LaValle, 2011; FAO, 2011). The Millennium Development Goals (UN Millennium Project, 2005) target of halving the number of hungry before 2015 is more related to food distribution than to agricultural intensification. Hence, food security is largely independent of the land sharing vs sparing debate. The UN Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food, Olivier De Schutter (2011), highlights in his recent report that small-scale ecological farming is already very productive and can do even better (see also IAASTD, 2009). He calls for increases of food production where the hungry live and the use of agroecological methods. These methods of improving yields are more accessible and viable for poor smallholder livelihoods than high agrochemical inputs. The notion of eco-farming for food security can be expanded to include the matrix of adjacent wild land, given the importance of landscape complexity for agroecological functions such as pest management, pollination, soil and water quality (Tscharntke et al., 2005, 2007a; Bianchi et al., 2006; Perfecto et al., 2009; Ricketts et al., 2008; Jackson et al., 2009; Blitzer et al., 2012).

The huge surplus production of large commercial farms generally contrasts with the low surplus of smallholder enterprises. While increasing urbanization in the tropics necessitates high food production for regional and global markets, it often leads to cheap retail prices. However, this does not indicate eventual inefficiency of smallholdings (Barrett et al., 2009; see Badgley et al., 2007), but simply their limited importance for large-scale markets. Increasing migration from the tropical countryside into big cities is driven by poverty, hunger and income opportunities offered by industrialization of urban centres. Hence, support for more efficient, profitable and sustainable production of smallholder farming enterprises and more independence (sovereignty) from large commercial operations (at national and international levels) may help to better secure access to food of the rural poor.

2.3. Food usage is inefficient – one third is wasted and one third fed to livestock

Why focus on increasing food production when the efficiency of food usage is low? A recent report commissioned by the FAO estimates that globally a third of harvested food is thrown away (Gustavsson et al., 2011; or even half of all food is lost, Foley et al., 2011). These food losses occur in industrialized countries as well as in developing countries, but in the latter 40% losses occur at post-harvest and processing levels, whereas in the industrialized countries, 40% occur at retail and consumer levels (Gustavsson et al., 2011). Improving post-harvest technologies (in particular for smallholders) and reducing food waste is a major challenge for our future.

Inefficient use of food stocks also occurs by feeding cereal and fodder starch to animals, which are poor converters of energy into meat. Livestock requires on average 7 kcal input (cereal grain feed) for every kcal generated (range: 16 kcal for beef to 3 kcal for broiler chickens). Currently, cereals fed to livestock make up 30–50% of global cereal production (FAO, 2006; de Schutter, 2011). With meat consumption predicted to rise from 37 to 52 kg/person/year (2000–2050; FAO, 2006) cereals are increasingly diverted to animal feed streams, a trend that should be reversed. Cereals and grain legumes convert energy into protein much more efficiently than animals do. Shifting diets from beef to poultry or from grain-fed to pasture-fed beef would already meaningfully increase food supplies by closing a 'diet gap' (Foley et al., 2011). Efforts to promote more efficient food systems (Ericksen, 2008) must be seriously considered before championing the widespread adoption of increasing food production with high-input agricultural intensification (independent of the land sharing vs sparing debate).

2.4. The EU '10% biofuel directive' causes increased food prices and contributes to rainforest destruction

The EU biofuel directive (2008) requires that 10% of all transport fuel should come from biofuel by 2050 (Vidal, 2010). In general, bioenergy production tripled in the last decade and until 2020, 15% of global cereal and plant oil production as well as 30% of sugarcane production is expected to go into biofuel (OECD-FAO, 2011). This is a policy with unintended consequences and does not help mitigate hunger. On the contrary, this directive increases the rate of land grabs (see the next section below) and increases food prices. According to a World Bank Report (2008) and many other expert opinions, biofuels were responsible for a meaningful part of the global food price spike in 2008. Further, large-scale destruction of rainforests for oil palm plantations (mainly in Indonesia and Malaysia) results in the destruction of major global carbon and biodiversity reservoirs. While the elimination of oilpalm-based biofuel production is unlikely, designing landscapes that integrate smallholder agroforestry systems between plantations and conservation areas may provide a more sustainable solution, especially if climate policies allow REDD credits to be traded (Koh et al., 2009; Koh. 2011).

2.5. Land grabbing and speculation on food commodities jeopardizes food security

Food security and food sovereignty is further hindered by direct and indirect "land grabbing", because local food security, especially in developing countries, can be undermined by the export of agricultural products. According to von Witzke and Noleppa (2011), indirect land grabbing applies, for example, to the European Union (EU), the world's largest net importer of agricultural products, which are grown on an agricultural area larger than the territory of Germany. More than half of these imported products are soybeans, mainly from South America (most of the soy is genetically modified and 50% of it is used for animal feed). Direct land grabbing refers to the fact that international investors are increasingly leasing or buying farmland in Africa, Asia, and Latin America for food and fuel production. This is a serious threat to food selfsufficiency and food sovereignty in most cases (La Via Campesina, 2010). Policy instruments that incorporate the views and land rights of communities of local smallholders have been difficult to design and implement (Horlings and Marsden, 2011).

Economic markets for primary food commodities are increasingly taking on the role of a new kind of investment product (incorporated into new derivative investment instruments) enhancing speculation and contributing to rising food prices and insecurity of supply. The 2008 price spike of food (cereals) was at least partially due to a speculative food bubble (Kaufmann, 2011). Recently, speculation pushed cocoa to a 33 year high (Allen, 2010). Speculation on food commodities therefore suggests negative effects on rural dwellers in the developing world. It brings uncertainty, loss of global food security, less rural self-reliance and weakened local markets.

3. Increasing yields need not translate into biodiversity loss or more land spared for nature

The land sparing vs sharing dichotomy is based on the argument, demonstrated mostly for temperate regions, that yields are negatively correlated to wildland biodiversity (Kleijn et al., 2009; Geiger et al., 2010). High yields and high biodiversity, however, can co-exist in tropical smallholder agricultural systems (Perfecto et al., 2007; Perfecto and Vandermeer, 2010; Clough et al., 2011). In cacao agroforestry, for example, management could be further optimized for more diversity in the different strata (litter, herbs, cacao itself and the shade trees), and conserving surrounding forests, without compromising food production (Clough et al., 2011). In addition, it is well-known that traditional coffee production systems are biodiversity friendly both in their biodiversity content and in the quality of the matrix they create, as well as producing reliable yields (Perfecto et al., 2005; Perfecto et al., 2009). There may not be the need to consider trade-offs (see Fig. 1, de Fries et al., 2004), although similar biodiversity does not mean similar community composition or functionality per se.

There is little evidence for a substantial decrease in cropland as yield in tropical crops increases (Ewers et al., 2009). Higher yield and profitability tend to attract migrants and hence, to frequently increase deforestation rates (Angelsen and Kaimowitz, 1999; Angelsen, 2010). This is contrary to the widespread assumption (also called the Borlaug hypothesis) that yield increases take pressure off forests. As such, allowing intensification does not necessarily increase the amount of land that will be spared for nature (Perfecto and Vandermeer, 2010). Given that there is no link between yield increases and forest conservation, it is really not the question here whether yield is based on agroecological or conventional intensification, but agroecological intensification is likely to enhance other ecosystem services, as will be discussed below.

4. Agroecological intensification sustains ecosystem services, while minimizing environmental costs and maintaining functional biodiversity

4.1. Wildlife-friendly farming sustains cultural ecosystem services

Last but not least, cultural ecosystem services need to be taken into account. Often, religious and ethical attitudes are important drivers of choosing agricultural practices (Sodhi and Ehrlich, 2010). In developed countries for example, people value traditional heterogeneity and complexity of their surroundings such as hedges, flowering field margins, fallows, and forest margins – all of which benefit biodiversity (Brodt et al., 2009; Soliva et al., 2010). In addition, people appreciate the biodiversity in agricultural landscapes allowing, for example, bird watching. This interest is also reflected in large numbers of publications dealing with the current decline of common farmland birds that is perceived as a severe problem in Europe (Whittingham, 2011). The public has to a large extent identified habitat destruction, increased use of agrochemicals, and landscape-wide structural simplification as unwanted. This desire for heterogeneous human-dominated landscapes needs to be an important part of concepts aiming to sustain multifunctionality of landscapes, integrating food production and conservation of both openland and forest species. The fact that 40% of terrestrial area is under agricultural management and just 12% is protected (Perfecto and Vandermeer, 2010) also means that, for example, endangered large carnivores (lynx, wolf, bear, etc.) cannot be conserved by a system of reserves, but need a highly connected matrix made up of semi-natural habitats, managed habitat and reserves (Linnell et al., 2005).

4.2. Conventional intensification causes often overlooked environmental costs

Environmental quality in agricultural landscapes dominated by smallholders is often overlooked in the land sparing vs sharing debate (Perrings et al., 2006). Conventional agricultural intensification often results in contamination by pesticides and fertilizers, which can affect human health and create non-target effects on wildlife and functional agrobiodiversity (Dutcher, 2007; Gibbs et al., 2009; Geiger et al., 2010; Meehan et al., 2011). Eco-efficient fertilization of poor soils is essential for sustainable agriculture (Tilman et al., 2001; Keating et al., 2010). Environmental costs of all N losses in Europe have recently been estimated at €70- \in 320 billion per year, which outweighs the direct economic benefits of N in agriculture (Sutton and van Grinsven, 2011). These high societal costs are due to losses in air quality, water quality and especially human health (Sutton and van Grinsven, 2011). At a global scale, sevenfold increase in N-fertilizer application in 1960-1995 resulted in doubling of cereal yields, but efficiency declined from 70 to 25 kg grain per kg N (Keating et al., 2010). Agriculture causes 30-35% of global greenhouse gas emissions, mainly due to tropical deforestation, methane emissions from livestock and rice fields, and nitrous oxide emissions from fertilized soils (Foley et al., 2011). Soil degradation has been estimated to affect 16-40% of terrestrial area (Chappell and LaValle, 2011) and even for Europe, meaningful soil losses causing reduced yields are predicted for the coming century (Banwart, 2011). However, little quantitative detail of costs and benefits of technical improvements is known, i.e. which changes in agroecological or conventional management regime (from crop rotation to agrochemical use) should be implemented to maximize productivity and to minimize negative externalities at the same time (see Fig. 1). Implementing agroecological principles in agriculture, i.e. adopting eco-efficient and environmentally friendly management with a focus on more diversified cropping systems (Letourneau et al., 2011; Ratnadass et al., in press), can greatly improve productivity and contribute to closing yield gaps (Foley et al., 2011) and to promoting agroecosystem resilience, i.e. the capacity to reorganize food production after disturbances or disasters (Tscharntke et al., 2011). Enhancing sustainable productivity of farmland needs a holistic, integrated strategy considering all resources (from e.g. labor, capital, energy, soil and water to biodiversity and climate) as well as external effects (environmental costs). Adoption of the most efficient techniques from the toolbox of sustainable land-use practices means, for example, enhanced fertilization and use of resource-efficient crop varieties in southern Africa, whereas current surplus fertilization in Europe needs to be sanctified.

4.3. The role of agrobiodiversity and associated ecosystem services

Agricultural production is highly dependent on ecosystem services such as pest control, pollination and soil fertility amongst others (Power, 2010). Both "planned" and "associated" biodiversity in farming systems and agricultural landscapes provide important ecosystem services. The concept of land-sparing, however, implicitly neglects the fact that biodiversity in agroecosystems can be of high short-term and long-term functional importance (Tscharntke et al., 2005; Jackson et al., 2009). So then, what are the benefits of 30% higher species richness and 50% higher density in organic farms (Bengtsson et al., 2005)? Consider, for example, the role of predators and pollinators in agroecosystems. A 1-hectare cereal



Fig. 2. Cartoon illustrating the possible combination of global food security with biodiversity conservation. The land sparing vs wildlife-friendly farming strategy (Phalan et al., 2011a,b) (A), which we here call "conventional intensification strategy", is contrasted with an agroecological intensification strategy based on the arguments presented in this paper (B). (A) Phalan et al. (2011a,b) introduce a region with equal areas of natural habitats, low-yield farmland and high-yield farmland (top). Land sparing (centre) involves increasing yields in the production landscape while protecting or restoring natural habitats. Wildlife-friendly farming (bottom) involves expanding the area of low-yield farmland at the expense of natural habitats. (B) In the same style of (A), three equal areas and natural habitats are shown, but conventional intensification (not wildlife friendly farming) is considered to be associated with low-yield farmland, while agroecological intensification (wildlife-friendly farming) is associated with high-yield farmland, while agroecological intensification (wildlife-friendly farming) is associated with high-yield farmland, while agroecological intensification (wildlife-friendly farming) is associated with high-yield farmland, while agroecological intensification (wildlife-friendly farming) is associated with high-yield farmland, while agroecological intensification (wildlife-friendly farming) is associated with high-yield farmland, while agroecological intensification (wildlife-friendly farming) is associated with high-yield farmland providing a multifunctional set of ecosystem services. The well-known inverse relationship between farm size and food productivity per unit of land (see text) means that increasing small-scale agroecological intensification (where the poor and hungry live) could combine wildlife-friendly farming with land sparing. More scientific effort needs to be invested to demonstrate and improve such agroecological strategies, combining high-quality matrix for wildlife an

field (in Central Europe) hosts several 100,000 individuals and several 100's of species of predators (beetles, spiders, flies; Tischler, 1980). The experimental exclusion of predators results in dramatic increases in pest aphid density (Schmidt et al., 2003; Costamagna and Landis, 2006) across European countries (Thies et al., 2011), with relative importance of predators changing with region indicating an insurance value of functional redundancy (Thies et al., 2011). In coffee production, the complex interactions of multiple ecosystem players combine to effectively create an autonomous control of pests (Vandermeer et al., 2010) and in maize as well as in other crops, push-pull strategies for natural pest control are successful (Cook et al., 2007). A textbook example is the biological control of Indonesian rice pests by avoiding pesticide use and increasing habitat heterogeneity (Settle et al., 1996). In a recent meta-analysis, Letourneau et al. (2011) demonstrated that diverse agroecosystems have less pest damage, fewer herbivores and more natural enemies than less diverse cropping systems. Globally, 30-40% of potential crop yield is destroyed by pathogens and pests (Oerke, 2006).

Pollinators are required for reproduction of almost 90% of angiosperms and consequently are a limiting factor of most plant communities and vegetation types. Further, pollinators improve production of 70% of the globally most important crop species (124 crop species, based on data from 200 countries) and influence 35% of global human food supply (although staple crops such as cereals, corn and rice are predominantly self-pollinating) (Klein et al., 2007; see also Gallai et al., 2009; Garibaldi et al., 2011). A little known and underappreciated fact is that important commodities such as cocoa completely depend on insect-mediated pollination (e.g. Groeneveld et al., 2010). Pollinator-dependent crops include particularly vitamin-rich foods (Eilers et al., 2011). There is increasing evidence that a diverse assemblage of pollinators can maximize crop yields, compared to the abundance of just one pollinator species (usually the honeybee) (Klein et al., 2003; Hoehn et al., 2008; Winfree and Kremen, 2009).

Despite the need to protect functional biodiversity and its services, conventional agricultural practices increasingly rely on frequent pesticide application, resulting in negative effects on functional biodiversity, for example on bees (Brittain and Potts, 2011) or soil biota (Culman et al., 2010). Hence, the true value of functional biodiversity on the farm in mitigating potential pesti-

cide impacts is often not adequately acknowledged and understood – even in major commodities such as coffee and cocoa.

In agricultural landscapes, natural habitat and habitat heterogeneity is known to enhance sufficient natural enemy density and diversity to reduce crop pest pressure (Thies and Tscharntke, 1999; Bianchi et al., 2006; Letourneau et al., 2011; Tscharntke et al., 2011). If human-dominated landscapes comprise a mix of land-use systems and forest remnants, re-colonization processes reduce extinction and allow for a combination of high functional biodiversity and efficient as well as sustainable food production (Tscharntke and Brandl, 2004; Steffan-Dewenter et al., 2007; Chazdon et al., 2009; Perfecto and Vandermeer, 2010; Clough et al., 2009, 2011; Tscharntke et al., 2011).

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, conventional ("industrial"; de Schutter, 2011) intensification of agriculture increasing yields in the developed world does not necessarily contribute to global hunger reduction. Food security and food sovereignty need to increase in areas where the hungry live, based on robust, eco-efficient approaches (Keating et al., 2010) and "agroecological intensification" (or "ecological engineering" increasing sustainable productivity), which incorporates natural biodiversity patterns and processes. We see three main problems with the land sharing vs sparing debate. First, yield and biodiversity are not necessarily negatively correlated where farms are efficiently managed. Second, increased yield does not necessarily spare land for nature; and third, conventional intensification tends to disrupt beneficial functions of biodiversity (e.g., natural pest control and pollination) and degrades environmental quality, threatening sustainability of food production. The high variability in yield-biodiversity relationships due to high variability of economically viable agricultural practices in both temperate and tropical regions illustrate that there are promising management options balancing human and ecological needs (Figs. 1 and 2). In any case, sensitive wildland ecosystems cannot be converted into agriculture and remaining natural habitat needs to be protected due to the high sensitivity of many species to anthropogenic disturbance (Kleijn et al., 2011). Linking agricultural intensification with biodiversity conservation and hunger reduction is a great challenge for the future. We do agree with Phalan et al. (2011a) that this requires well-informed regional and targeted solutions but these are more complex than currently discussed in the "black-and-white" land sparing vs sharing debate.

Acknowledgments

We note with sadness the passing of our friend, colleague, and mentor Navjot Sodhi; working with him was wonderful and we strongly believe that he would have loved to coauthor this opinion paper – we miss him. Ben Phalan and an anonymous reviewer provided very helpful comments. Author sequence follows the "sequence-determines-credit" (from T.T. to T.C.W.) and the "equal-contribution" norm (from L.J. to A.W.) (see Tscharntke et al., 2007b). Financial support for T.T. came from the German Ministry of Research and Education (BMBF) and the German Research Foundation (DFG) and for J.V. and I.P. from the University of Michigan.

References

- Adams, W.M., Aveling, R., Brockington, D., Dickson, B., Elliott, J., Hutton, J., Roe, D., Vira, B., Wolmer, W., 2004. Biodiversity conservation and the eradication of poverty. Science 306, 1146–1149.
- Allen, K., 2010. Hedge Funds Accused of Gambling with Lives of the Poorest as Food Prices Soar. The Guardian (19 July 2010). http://www.guardian.co.uk/business/2010/jul/19/speculators-commodities-food-price-rises-.
- Angelsen, A., 2010. Policies for reduced deforestation and their impact on agricultural production. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107, 19639–19644.
- Angelsen, A., Kaimowitz, D., 1999. Rethinking the causes of deforestation: lessons from economic models. World Bank Res. Obs. 14, 73–98.
- Badgley, C., Moghtader, J., Quintero, E., Zakem, E., Chappell, M.J., Avilés-Vázquez, K., Samulon, A., Perfect, I., 2007. Organic agriculture and the global food supply. Renew. Agric. Food Syst. 22, 86–108.
- Banwart, S., 2011. Save our soils. Nature 474, 151-152.
- Barlow, J., Gardner, T.A., Araujo, I.S., Avila-Pires, T.C., Bonaldo, A.B., Costa, J.E., Esposito, M.C., Ferreira, L.V., Hawes, J., Hernandez, M.I.M., Hoogmoed, M.S., Leite, R.N., Lo-Man-Hung, N.F., Malcolm, J.R., Martins, M.B., Mestre, L.A.M., Miranda-Santos, R., Nunes-Gutjahr, A.L., Overal, W.L., Parry, L., Peters, S.L., Ribeiro-Junior, M.A., da Silva, M.N.F., da Silva Motta, C., Peres, C.A., 2007. Quantifying the biodiversity value of tropical primary, secondary, and plantation forests. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104, 18555–18560.
- Barrett, C.B., Bellemare, M.F., Hou, J.Y., 2009. Reconsidering conventional explanations of the inverse productivity-size relationship. World Dev. 38, 88– 97.
- Baumgärtner, S., Quaas, M.F., 2010. Managing increasing environmental risks through agrobiodiversity and agri-environmental policies. Agric. Econ. 41, 483–496.
- Bengtsson, J., Ahnström, J., Weibull, A.-C., 2005. The effects of organic agriculture on biodiversity and abundance: a meta-analysis. J. Appl. Ecol. 42, 261–269.
- Bianchi, F.J.J.A., Booij, C.J.H., Tscharntke, T., 2006. Sustainable pest regulation in agricultural landscapes: a review on landscape composition, biodiversity and natural pest control. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. B 273, 1715–1727.
- Blitzer, E.J., Dormann, C.F., Holzschuh, A., Klein, A.M., Rand, T.A., Tscharntke, T., 2012. Spillover of functionally important organisms between managed and natural habitats. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 146, 34–43.
- Brittain, C., Potts, S.G., 2011. The potential impacts of insecticides on the life-history traits of bees and the consequences of pollination. Basic Appl. Ecol. 12, 321–331.
- Brodt, S., Klonsky, K., Jackson, L.E., Brush, S.B., Smukler, S.M., 2009. Factors affecting adoption of hedgerows and other biodiversity-enhancing features on farms in California, USA. Agroforest. Syst. 76, 195–206.
- Chappell, M.J., LaValle, L.A., 2011. Food security and biodiversity: can we have both? Agric. Hum. Values 28, 3–26.
- Chazdon, R.L., Harvey, C., Komar, O., Griffith, D., Ferguson, B., Martínez-Ramos, M., Morales, H., Nigh, R., Soto-Pinto, L., van Breugel, M., Philpott, S., 2009. Beyond reserves: a research agenda for conserving biodiversity in tropical humanmodified landscapes. Biotropica 41, 142–153.
- Clough, Y., Faust, H., Tscharntke, T., 2009. Cacao boom and bust: sustainability of agroforests and opportunities for biodiversity conservation. Conserv. Lett. 2, 197–205.
- Clough, Y., Barkmann, J., Juhrbandt, J., Kessler, M., Wanger, T.C., Anshary, A., Buchori, D., Cicuzza, D., Darras, D., Dwi Putra, D., Erasmi, S., Pitopang, R., Schmidt, C., Schulze, C.H., Seidel, D., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Stenchly, K., Vidal, S., Weist, M., Wielgoss, A.C., Tscharntke, T., 2011. Combining high biodiversity with high yields in tropical agroforests. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108, 8311–8316.
- Cook, S.M., Khan, Z.R., Pickett, S.A., 2007. The use of push-pull strategies in integrated pest management. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 52, 375–400.
- Cornia, G.A., 1985. Farm size, land yields and the agricultural production function: an analysis for fifteen developing countries. World Dev. 13, 131–145.
- Costamagna, A.C., Landis, D.A., 2006. Predators exert top-down control of soybean aphid across a gradient of agricultural management systems. Ecol. Appl. 16, 1619–1628.

- Culman, S.W., Young-Mathews, A., Hollander, A.D., Ferris, H., Sánchez-Moreno, S., O'Geen, A.T., Jackson, L.E., 2010. Biodiversity and soil ecosystem functions over a landscape gradient of agricultural intensification in California. Landscape Ecol. 25, 1333–1348.
- De Fries, R.S., Foley, J.A., Asner, G.P., 2004. Land-use choices: balancing human needs and ecosystem functions. Front. Ecol. Environ. 2, 249–257.
- De Schutter, O., 2011. Report on the Right to Food. UN Human Rights Council. http://rs.resalliance.org/?p=4612.
- Dutcher, J.D., 2007. A review of resurgence and replacement causing pest outbreaks in IPM. In: Ciancio, A., Mukerji, K.G. (Eds.), General Concepts in Integrated Pest and Disease Management. Springer, pp. 27–43.
- Eilers, E.J., Kremen, C., Smith Greenleaf, S., Garber, A.K., Klein, A.-M., 2011. Contribution of pollinator-mediated crops to nutrients in the human food supply. PLoS One 6 (6), e21363.
- Ericksen, P.J., 2008. Conceptualizing food systems for global environmental change research. Global Environ. Change 18, 234–245.
- EU (European Commission), 2011. Our Life Insurance, our Natural Capital: An EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2010. Brussels, 3 May 2011. http://ec.europa.eu/ environment/nature/biodiversity/comm2006/pdf/2020/1_EN_ACT_part1_v7% 5B1%5D.pdf>.
- Ewers, R.M., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Balmford, A., Green, R.E., 2009. Do increases in agricultural yield spare land for nature? Global Change Biol. 15, 1716–1726.
- FAO, 2006. World Agriculture: Towards 2030/2050 Interim Report. Global Perspective Studies Unit, FAO, Rome, Italy.
- FAO, 2011. The State of Food Insecurity of the World: How Does International Price Volatility Affect Domestic Economies and Food Security? FAO, WFP, IFAD, Rome, Italy.
- Fischer, J., Brosi, B., Daily, G.C., Ehrlich, P.R., Goldman, R., Goldstein, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., Manning, A.D., Mooney, A.H., Pejchar, L., Ranganathan, J., Tallis, H., 2008. Should agricultural policies encourage land sparing or wildlife-friendly farming? Front. Ecol. Environ. 6, 380–385.
- Fischer, J., Batary, P., Bawa, K.S., Brussaard, L., Chappell, M.J., Clough, Y., Daily, G.C., Dorrough, J., Hartel, T., Jackson, L.E., Klein, A.M., Kremen, C., Juemmerle, T., Lindenmayer, D.B., Mooney, H.A., Perfecto, I., Philpott, S.M., Tscharntke, T., Vandermeer, J., Wanger, T.C., Wehrden, H., 2011. Conservation: limits of land sparing. Science 334, 593.
- Foley, J.A., Ramankutty, N., Brauman, K.A., Cassidy, E.S., Gerber, J.S., Johnston, M., Mueller, N.D., O'Connell, C., Ray, D.K., West, P.C., Balzer, C., Bennett, E.M., Carpenter, S.R., Hill, J., Monfreda, C., Polasky, S., Rockström, J., Sheehan, J., Siebert, S., Tilman, G.D., Zaks, D.P.M., 2011. Solutions for a cultivated planet. Nature 478, 337–342.
- Gabriel, D., Sait, S.M., Hodgson, J.A., Schmutz, U., Kunin, W.E., Benton, T.G., 2010. Scale matters: the impact of organic farming on biodiversity at different spatial scales. Ecol. Lett. 13, 858–869.
- Gallai, N., Sallesc, J.M., Settele, J., Vaissière, B.E., 2009. Economic valuation of the vulnerability of world agriculture confronted with pollinator decline. Ecol. Econ. 68, 810–821.
- Garibaldi, L.A., Aizen, M.A., Klein, A.-M., Cunningham, S.A., Harder, L.H., 2011. Global growth and stability of agricultural yield decrease with pollinator dependence. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 14, 5909–5914.
- Geiger, F., de Snoo, G.R., Berendse, F., Guerrero, I., Morales, M.B., Onate, J.J., Eggers, S., Pärt, T., Bommarco, R., Bengtsson, L., Clement, L.W., Weisser, W.W., Olszewski, A., Ceryngier, P., Hawro, V., Inchausti, P., Fischer, C., Flohre, A., Thies, C., Tscharntke, T., 2010. Persistent negative effects of pesticides on biodiversity and biological control potential on European farmland. Basic Appl. Ecol. 11, 97–105.
- Gibbs, K.E., Mackey, R.L., Currie, D.J., 2009. Human land use, agriculture, pesticides and losses of imperiled species. Divers. Distrib. 15, 242–253.
- Godfray, H.C.J., Beddington, J.R., Crute, J.I., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J.F., Pretty, J., Robinson, S., Thomas, S., Toulmin, C., 2010. Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. Science 327, 812–818.
- Green, R.E., Cornell, S.J., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Balmford, A., 2005. Farming and the fate of wild nature. Science 307, 550–555.
- Groeneveld, J.H., Tscharntke, T., Moser, G., Clough, Y., 2010. Experimental evidence for stronger cacao yield limitation by pollination than by plant resources. Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst. 12, 183–191.
- Gustavsson, J., Cederberg, C., Sonesson, U., van Otterdijk, R., Meybeck A., 2011. Global Food Losses and Food Waste: Extent, causes and Prevention. FAO, Rome, Italy.

Halweil, B., 2006. Can organic farming feed the world? World Watch 19, 18-24.

- Hodgson, J.A., Kunin, W.E., Thomas, C.D., Benton, T., Gabriel, D., 2010. Comparing organic farming and land sparing: optimizing yield and butterfly populations at a landscape scale. Ecol. Lett. 13, 1358–1367.
- Hoehn, P., Tscharntke, T., Tylianakis, J.M., Steffan-Dewenter, I., 2008. Functional group diversity of bee pollinators increases crop yield. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. B 275, 2283–2291.
- Horlings, L.G., Marsden, T.K., 2011. Towards the real green revolution? Exploring the conceptual dimensions of a new ecological modernization of agriculture that could 'feed the world'. Global Environ. Change (published online).
- IAASTD, 2009. International assessment of agricultural knowledge, science and technology for development: the synthesis report. In: McIntyre, B.D., Herren, H.R., Wakhungu, J., Watson, R.T. (Eds.). Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Jackson, L.E., Pascual, U., Hodgkin, T., 2007. Utilizing and conserving agrobiodiversity in agricultural landscapes. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 121, 196– 210.
- Jackson, L.E., Rosenstock, T., Thomas, M., Wright, J., Symstad, A., 2009. Managed ecosystems: biodiversity and ecosystem functions in landscapes modified by

human use. In: Naeem, S., Bunker, D., Hector, A., Loreau, M., Perrings, C. (Eds.), Biodiversity and Human Impacts. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, pp. 178– 194 (Chapter 13).

- Kaufmann, J., 2011. How Goldman Sachs Created the Food Crisis. Portside@lists.portside.org (27 April 2011). http://www.foreignpolicy.com/articles/2011/04/27/how_goldman_sachs_created_the_food_crisiss.
- Keating, B.A., Carberry, P.S., Bindraban, P.S., Asseng, S., Meinke, H., Dixon, J., 2010. Eco-efficient agriculture: conepts, challenges and opportunities. Crop Sci. 50, 109–119.
- Kleijn, D., Kohler, F., Báldi, A., Batáry, P., Concepción, E.D., Clough, Y., Díaz, M., Gabriel, D., Holzschuh, A., Knop, E., Kovács, A., Marshall, E.J.P., Tscharntke, T., Verhulst, J., 2009. On the relationship between farmland biodiversity and landuse intensity in Europe. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. B 276, 903–909.
- Kleijn, D., Rundlöf, M., Scheper, J., Smith, H.G., Tscharntke, T., 2011. Does conservation on farmland contribute to halting the biodiversity decline? Trends Ecol. Evol. 26, 474–481.
- Klein, A.-M., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Tscharntke, T., 2003. Fruit set of highland coffee depends on the diversity of pollinating bees. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. B 270, 955– 961.
- Klein, A.-M., Vaissière, B.E., Cane, J.H., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S.A., Kremen, C., Tscharntke, T., 2007. Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. B 274, 303–313.
- Koh, L.P., 2011. Balancing societies' priorities: an ecologist's perspective on sustainable development. Basic Appl. Ecol. 12, 389–393.
- Koh, L.P., Levang, P., Ghazoul, J., 2009. Designer landscapes for sustainable biofuels. Trends Ecol. Evol. 24, 431–438.
- La Via Campesina, 2010. Stop Land-grabbing now! http://www.grain.org/o_files/wb-landgrab-2010-en.pdf>.
- Letourneau, D.K., Armbrecht, I., Rivera, B.S., Lerma, J.M., Carmona, E.J., Daza, M.C., Escobar, S., Galindo, V., Gutiérrez, C., López, S.D., Mejía, J.L., Rangel, A.M.C., Rangel, J.H., Rivera, L., Saavedra, C.A., Torres, A.M., Trujillo, A.R., 2011. Does plant diversity benefit agroecosystems? A synthetic review. Ecol. Appl. 21, 9–21.
- Lewis, W.J., van Lenteren, J.C., Phatak, S.C., Tumlinson, J.H.I.I.I., 1997. A total system approach to sustainable pest management. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94, 12243– 12248.
- Linnell, J.D., Promberger, C., Boitani, L., Swenson, J.E., Breitenmoser, U., Andersen, R., 2005. The linkage between conservation strategies for large carnivores and biodiversity: the view from the "half-full" forests of Europe. In: Ray, J.C., Redford, K.H., Steneck, R.S., Berger, J. (Eds.), Large Carnivores and the Conservation of Biodiversity. Island Press, Washington, DC, pp. 381–399.
- Maas, B., Dwi Putra, D., Waltert, M., Clough, Y., Tscharntke, T., Schulze, C.H., 2009. Six years of habitat modification in a tropical rainforest margin of Indonesia do not affect bird diversity but endemic forest species. Biol. Conserv. 142, 2665– 2671.
- Meehan, T.D., Werling, B.P., Landis, D.A., Gratton, C., 2011. Agricultural landscape simplification and insecticide use in the Midwestern United States. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. doi:10.1073/pnas.1100751108.
- Michalski, F., Metzger, J.P., Peres, C.A., 2010. Rural property size drives patterns of upland and riparian forest retention in a tropical deforestation frontier. Global Environ. Change 20, 705–712.
- OECD-FAO, 2011. Agricultural Outlook 2011–2020. OECD Publishing, OECD & FAO, Paris.
- Oerke, E.C., 2006. Crop losses to pests. J. Agric. Sci. 144, 31-43.
- Perfecto, I., Vandermeer, J., 2010. The agroecological matrix as alternative to the land sparing/agriculture intensification model. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 197, 5786–5791.
- Perfecto, I., Vandermeer, J., Mas, A., Soto Pinto, L., 2005. Biodiversity, yield and shade coffee certification. Ecol. Econ. 54, 435–446.
- Perfecto, I., Armbrecht, I., Philpott, S.M., Soto-Pinto, L., Dietsch, T.M., 2007. Shaded coffee and the stability of rainforest margins in northern Latin America. In: Tscharntke, T., Leuschner, C., Zeller, M., Guhadja, E., Bidin, A. (Eds.), The Stability of Tropical Rainforest Margins, Linking Ecological, Economic and Social Constraints of Land use and Conservation. Environmental Science Series. Springer Verlag, Berlin, pp. 227–264.
- Perfecto, İ., Vandermeer, J., Wright, A., 2009. Nature's Matrix: Linking Agriculture, Conservation and Food Sovereignty. Earthscan, London.
- Perrings, C., Jackson, L.E., Bawa, K., Brussaard, L., Brush, S., Gavin, T., Papa, R., Pascual, U., de Ruiter, P., 2006. Biodiversity in agricultural landscapes: saving natural capital without losing interest. Conserv. Biol. 20, 263–264.
- Phalan, B., Balmford, A., Green, R.E., Scharlemann, J.P.W., 2011a. Minimising harm to biodiversity of producing more food globally. Food Policy 36, S62–S71.
- Phalan, B., Onial, M., Balmford, A., Green, R.E., 2011b. Reconciling food production and biodiversity conservation: land sharing and land sparing compared. Science 333, 1289–1291.
- Porter-Bolland, L., Ellis, E.A., Guaruiguata, M.R., Ruiz-Mallen, I., Negrete-Yankelevich, S., Reyes-Garcia, V., 2012. Community managed forests and forest protected areas: an assessment of their conservation effectiveness across the tropics. Forest Ecol. Manage. 268, 6–17.
- Power, A.G., 2010. Ecosystem services and agriculture: tradeoffs and synergies. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. B 365, 2959–2971.
- Ratnadass, A., Fernandes, P., Avelino, J., Habibet, R., in press. Plant species diversity for sustainable management of crop pests and diseases in agroecosystems: a review. Agron. Sust. Dev. doi: 10.1007/s13593-011-0022-4.
- Ricketts, T.H., Regetz, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S.A., Kremen, C., Bogdanski, A., Gemmill-Herren, B., Greenleaf, S.S., Klein, A.M., Mayfield, M.M.,

Morandin, Ochieng, A., Viana, B.F., 2008. Landscape effects on crop pollination services: are there general patterns? Ecol. Lett. 11, 499–515.

- Sachs, J.D., Baillie, J.E.M., Sutherland, W.J., Armsworth, P.R., Ash, N., Beddington, J., Blackburn, T.M., Collen, B., Gardiner, B., Gaston, K.J., et al., 2009. Biodiversity conservation and the millennium development goals. Science 325, 1502–1503.
- Schmidt, M.H., Lauer, A., Purtauf, T., Thies, C., Schaefer, M., Tscharntke, T., 2003. Relative importance of predators and parasitoids for cereal aphid control. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. B 270, 1905–1909.
- Schulze, C.H., Waltert, M., Kessler, P.J.A., Pitopang, R., Shahabuddin, Veddeler, D., Mühlenberg, M., Gradstein, S.R., Leuschner, C., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Tscharntke, T., 2004. Biodiversity indicator groups of tropical land-use systems: comparing plants, birds, and insects. Ecol. Appl. 14, 1321–1333.
- Schwarze, S., Schippers, B., Weber, R., Faust, H., Wardhono, A., Zeller, M., Kreisel, W., 2007. Forest products and household incomes: evidence from rural households living in the rainforest margins of Central Sulawesi. In: Tscharntke, T., Leuschner, C., Zeller, M., Guhadja, E., Bidin, A. (Eds.), The Stability of Tropical Rainforest Margins, Linking Ecological, Economic and Social Constraints of Land Use and Conservation. Environmental Science Series. Springer Verlag, Berlin, pp. 209–224.
- Settle, W.H., Ariawan, H., Tri Asuti, E., Cahyana, W., Hakim, A.L., Hindayana, D., Sri Lestari, A., Sartano, P., 1996. Managing tropical rice pests through conservation of generalist natural enemies and alternative prey. Ecology 77, 1975–1988.
- Sodhi, N.S., Ehrlich, P., 2010. Conservation Biology for all. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Soliva, R., Bolliger, J., Hunziker, M., 2010. Differences in preferences towards potential future landscapes in the Swiss Alps. Landscape Res. 35, 671–696.
- Steffan-Dewenter, I., Kessler, M., Barkmann, J., Bos, M.M., Buchori, D., Erasmi, S., Faust, H., Gerold, G., Glenk, K., Gradstein, S.R., Guhardja, E., Harteveld, M., Hertel, D., Höhn, P., Kappas, M., Köhler, S., Leuschner, C., Maertens, M., Marggraf, R., Migge-Kleian, S., Mogea, J., Pitopang, R., Schaefer, M., Schwarze, S., Sporn, S.G., Steingrebe, A., Tjitrosoedirdjo, S.S., Tjitrosoemito, S., Twele, A., Weber, R., Woltmann, L., Zeller, M., Tscharntke, T., 2007. Tradeoffs between income, biodiversity, and ecosystem functioning during tropical rainforest conversion and agroforestry intensification. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104, 4973–4978.
- Sutton, M.A., van Grinsven, H., 2011. The European Nitrogen Assessment. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Thies, C., Tscharntke, T., 1999. Landscape structure and biological control in agroecosystems. Science 285, 893–895.
- Thies, C., Haenke, S., Scherber, C., Bengtsson, J., Bommarco, R., Clement, L.W., Ceryngier, P., Dennis, C., Emmerson, M., Gagic, V., Hawro, V., Liira, J., Weisser, W.W., Winqvist, C., Tscharntke, T., 2011. The relationship between agricultural intensification and biological control – experimental tests across Europe. Ecol. Appl. 21, 2187–2196.
- Tilman, D., Fargione, J., Wolff, B., D'Antonio, C., Dobson, R., Howarth, R., Chandlerr, D., Schlesinger, W.H., Simberloff, D., Swackhamer, D., 2001. Forecasting agriculturally driven global environmental change. Science 292, 281–284.
- Tischler, W., 1980. Biologie der Kulturlandschaft. Gustav Fischer, Stuttgart.
- Tscharntke, T., Brandl, R., 2004. Plant-insect interactions in fragmented landscapes. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 49, 405–430.
- Tscharntke, T., Klein, A.M., Kruess, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Thies, C., 2005. Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity– ecosystem service management. Ecol. Lett. 8, 857–874.
- Tscharntke, T., Bommarco, R., Clough, Y., Crist, T.O., Kleijn, D., Rand, T.A., Tylianakis, J.M., van Nouhuys, S., Vidal, S., 2007a. Conservation biological control and enemy diversity on a landscape scale. Biol. Control 43, 294–309.
- Tscharntke, T., Hochberg, M.E., Rand, T.A., Resh, V.H., Krauss, J., 2007b. Author sequence and credit for contributions in multiauthored publications. PLoS Biol. 5, 13–14.
- Tscharntke, T., Clough, Y., Bhagwat, S.A., Buchori, D., Faust, H., Hertel, D., Hölscher, D., Juhrbandt, J., Kessler, M., Perfecto, I., Scherber, C., Schroth, G., Veldkamp, E., Wanger, T.C., 2011. Multifunctional shade-tree management in tropical agroforestry landscapes – a review. J. Appl. Ecol. 48, 619–629.
- UN Millennium Project, 2005. Investing in Development: A Practical Plan to Achieve the Millennium Development Goals. Overview. UN, New York.
- Vandermeer, J., Perfecto, I., 2005. The future of farming and conservation. Science 308, 1257–1258.
- Vandermeer, J., Perfecto, I., Philpott, S., 2010. Ecological complexity and pest control in organic coffee production: uncovering an autonomous ecosystem service. BioScience 60, 516–526.
- Vidal, J., 2010. Forced use of Biofuels could Hit Food Production, EU Warned. The Guardian. http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2010/nov/09/more-biofuels-could-hit-fuel-production>.
- Von Witzke, H., Noleppa, S., 2011. EU Agricultural Production and Trade: Can More Efficiency Prevent Increasing 'Land-grabbing' Outside Europe? OPERA Report. http://www.opera-indicators.eu/assets/files/News/Final_Report_Humboldt_Opera.pdf>.
- Wanger, T.C., Rauf, A., Schwarze, S., 2010. Pesticides and tropical biodiversity. Front. Ecol. Environ. 8, 178–179.
- Whittingham, M.J., 2011. The future of agri-environment schemes: biodiversity gains and ecosystem service delivery? J. Appl. Ecol. 48, 509–513.
- Winfree, R., Kremen, C., 2009. Are ecosystem services stabilized by differences among species? A test using crop pollination. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. B 276, 229– 237.
- World Bank, 2007. World Development Report 2008. Agriculture for Development, Washington, DC.
- World Bank Report, 2008. Policy Research Working Paper No. 4682.